Perspectives on Culture and Concepts

bethany l. ojalehto and Douglas L. Medin

Psychology Department, Northwestern University, Evanston, Illinois 60208; email: bethanyojalehto2015@u.northwestern.edu, medin@northwestern.edu

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2015. 66:249-75

First published online as a Review in Advance on September 17, 2014

The *Annual Review of Psychology* is online at psych.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010814-015120

Copyright © 2015 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

Keywords

conceptual organization, language, folk theories, conceptual domains, cultural epistemologies

Abstract

The well-respected tradition of research on concepts uses cross-cultural comparisons to explore which aspects of conceptual behavior are universal versus culturally variable. This work continues, but it is being supplemented by intensified efforts to study how conceptual systems and cultural systems interact to modify and support each other. For example, cultural studies within the framework of domain specificity (e.g., folkphysics, folkpsychology, folkbiology) are beginning to query the domains themselves and offer alternative organizing principles (e.g., folksociology, folkecology). Findings highlight the multifaceted nature of both concepts and culture: Individuals adopt distinct conceptual construals in accordance with culturally infused systems such as language and discourse, knowledge and beliefs, and epistemological orientations. This picture complicates questions about cognitive universality or variability, suggesting that researchers may productively adopt a systems-level approach to conceptual organization and cultural epistemologies. Related implications for diversity in cognitive science are discussed.

Contents	
INTRODUCTION	250
BACKGROUND: NOTIONS OF CONCEPTS AND CULTURE	251
POSITIONING CONCEPTS AND CULTURE: EMERGING TRENDS IN	
CULTURAL COMPARISONS	252
Units of Cultural Comparisons	252
Culture and the Brain	253
Interdisciplinary Collaborations	254
Summary	
CULTURE, LANGUAGE, AND CONCEPTS	255
Word-Concept Mappings: Cross-Linguistic Perspectives	255
Linguistic and Conceptual Diversity Across Cultures	256
Summary	257
DOMAIN SPECIFICITY	257
Folkphysics	257
Folkbiology	259
Folkpsychology	260
Summary	263
EXTENDING DOMAIN SPECIFICITY	263
Conceptual Domains at the Intersections	263
New Perspectives on Domains	265
CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS:	
MULTIPLE FORMS OF DIVERSITY	266

INTRODUCTION

One could hardly imagine writing a cognitive psychology textbook without having a major section on concepts, but just a few decades ago it would not have been out of line to exclude any work on culture. Consider Medin & Smith's (1984) review of research on concepts. The only study involving cultural comparisons they cited was Eleanor Rosch's (1973) now classic study of color concepts among the Dani of New Guinea. Just 16 years later, cultural comparisons in studies of cognition and conceptual behavior were much more common, and a review by Medin et al. (2000) cited more than 30 cross-cultural or cross-linguistic comparisons. In this review, studies of culture linked closely to concepts have assumed a leading role—quite a dramatic change in 30 years.

There has been a corresponding substantial shift in the nature of and intentions associated with cultural comparisons. Traditional comparative approaches continue to receive consideration and play an important role, but they are being supplemented with new theoretical and methodological frameworks for understanding culture and cognition. In particular, changing conceptions of culture are feeding back to affect not only how culture is studied, but also how we understand the concepts recruited in such studies. Although a great deal of previous research focused on cultural similarities and differences in conceptual spaces (e.g., color terms, folk taxonomic systems, spatial cognition), the discreteness of these very domains is now increasingly under scrutiny. These developments, in turn, are affecting ideas about how culture should be conceptualized.

Our article is organized as follows. First, we provide a few observations on culture and concepts as background for our review. We discuss how cultural research continues to play a role in ideas

Culture: a way of life, often equated with shared knowledge or what one needs to know to live successfully in a community about categories and conceptual behavior. This includes tests for generalizability across cultures as well as studies selecting different cultural groups on the basis of likely differences on some dimension or factor of interest.

Second, we point to several approaches to the study of culture and cognition, reviewing various sociocultural comparisons, interactions between language and thought, and domains of folk-biology, folkpsychology, and folkphysics. This body of research offers fertile ground for recent developments that extend the domain-specificity approach by examining potential cross-domain concepts and proposing novel organizations of conceptual domains themselves. Another viewpoint adopts a systems-level approach to understanding the interplay of culture and concepts and employs epistemological orientations as a framework for understanding how diverse cultural systems organize conceptual knowledge, values, and behavior.

BACKGROUND: NOTIONS OF CONCEPTS AND CULTURE

Concepts can take many forms and functions and thus may be defined in various ways (Barsalou 2008, Carey 2009, Medin et al. 2000, Solomon et al. 1999), including ways that influence roles for culture and culture's very definition (Brumann 1999). One influential view holds that concepts are the "units of thought" that form the building blocks of domain-specific folk theories (Carey 2009, p. 5; Gelman 2009). On this account, culture can be seen as input to domain-specific cognitive systems that structure learning (Gelman & Legare 2011). For example, empirical studies may compare how people from different cultures think about particular concepts (e.g., concepts of false belief, see Liu et al. 2008) or a series of related concepts (e.g., spatial terms, folk taxonomies). These results are then interpreted in terms of whether people across cultures share basic concepts and the extent to which those concepts are shaped by cultural inputs.

Other approaches take a more relational perspective on concepts, both with respect to how cultural systems (e.g., languages, artifacts, practices, values) affect conceptual organization and with respect to how concepts permeate cultural behavior (e.g., in the production of words or other artifacts). This includes work that emphasizes the distributed and contextualized nature of concepts as embedded in language and action (Barsalou et al. 2010, Cole 1998, Malt & Majid 2013). Empirical studies in this vein may investigate how distinctive conceptual patterns, such as spatial frameworks or agency attributions, emerge from the interaction between cognitive and social structures (see also Enfield & Sidnell 2014). From this perspective, culture and concepts are mutually constitutive processes rather than separate variables, leading to a more interactive view than the framework of cultural input and mental output suggests.

Complementary approaches treat concepts as embedded within cultural orientations that provide broad framework theories, also known as epistemological orientations, for organizing knowledge and behavior (Medin et al. 2013). For example, studies may focus on how epistemological orientations that view humans as part of nature (or apart from nature) influence conceptual organization and reasoning processes relative to the living world (Bang et al. 2007). This work takes a systems-level view in which culture affects both the contents and the processes of thought, a step that complicates the traditional separation between higher-level beliefs associated with culture (studied by anthropology) and basic cognitive functions associated with the mind (studied by psychology).

In a different but related vein, a great deal of research in cultural psychology aims to identify and systematically analyze domain-general systems of thinking that are typical of a culture (e.g., Nisbett et al. 2001). On these views, culture provides a generalized orientation to the world that influences cognitive processing across many domains, ranging from concepts and categorization to judgment, inference, reasoning, self-construal, and understandings of agency. Leading theories

Folkbiology: intuitive understanding of living things (plants and animals, including humans) in terms of biological processes and events

Folkpsychology: intuitive understanding of intentional agents' behavior in terms of mental states (thoughts, feelings, intentions) that drive actions

Folkphysics: intuitive or everyday understanding of physical events, bounded objects, and substances

Epistemological orientations:

different ways of seeing the world; that is, broad cultural framework theories that provide skeletal principles determining what is considered worthy of attention and relevant to sense making and explanation have focused on notions of self (Markus & Kitayama 1991), analytic versus holistic cognitive styles (Nisbett & Masuda 2003, Nisbett et al. 2001), individualist versus collectivist social orientations (Greenfield et al. 2003), and more recently high-context versus low-context (Kittler et al. 2011) and tight versus loose orientations (Gelfand et al. 2011). These approaches have in common a focus on potential conceptual diversity as one manifestation of pervasive cultural-psychological processes that determine global cognitive functioning.

In summary, different views of concepts and culture lead to different research emphases, questions, and methods. In our analysis, the goal is not to identify which views of culture or concepts are correct or even the best, but rather to examine the different kinds of contributions each view has to offer. The emerging consensus across these diverse approaches is that culture and conceptual behavior are inseparable.

POSITIONING CONCEPTS AND CULTURE: EMERGING TRENDS IN CULTURAL COMPARISONS

Given the consensus just described, it is not surprising that the interaction of cognition and culture is becoming increasingly important to cognitive science. Many scholars investigate potential universals linked to nativist, modular, or domain-specific views of cognition (e.g., Sperber & Hirschfeld 2004), whereas others seek to explore potential variability linked to the diversity of experiential and social interactions that contribute to mental life (e.g., Enfield & Levinson 2006). Consequently, one common concern across research programs is the question of what is universal or culturally variable in cognition. This question takes different forms at alternative levels of analysis—a set of differences at one level may become similarities at a more abstract level (Norenzayan & Heine 2005). We summarize three trends in cultural comparisons—changes in the units of comparison, a focus on neuroscience, and interdisciplinary collaborations. All three contribute to the diversity of perspectives relevant to culture and concepts.

If cultural cognitive research is growing by leaps and bounds, bear in mind that this dramatic increase in cultural research comes from a tiny base rate. The overwhelming majority of cognitive research, including research on the psychology of concepts, comes from samples of college students attending major research universities in Western, industrial, democratic countries—especially the United States (Arnett 2008). This focus continues despite evidence that these samples may be especially unrepresentative of people in general (Henrich et al. 2010). Some scholars suggest that Internet studies are a cure for this limitation, but Internet studies have problems of their own, including the observation that workers in these studies typically have participated in literally hundreds of other studies (Rand et al. 2014). Within the domain of concepts and conceptual behavior, college students, at a minimum, are atypical with respect to the basis for typicality effects and the use of categories in reasoning (Medin & Atran 2004).

Units of Cultural Comparisons

Comparisons can range from those on a global scale (e.g., East-West); to cross-national analyses; to within-nation cultural contrasts; or even to within-culture differences linked to socioeconomic class, religious affiliation, age, or gender. Although cross-national comparisons are the most common, significant cultural differences also distinguish groups within nations and societies (Stephens et al. 2014). Even within a relatively small geographical area, differences associated with socioeconomic class; rural, suburban, or urban lifestyles; and religion can be important to cognitive diversity. For example, consistent differences in self-construal and perceptions of agency are found between working-class and middle-class samples (reviewed in Kraus et al. 2012, Stephens et al. 2014). In terms of residency, Rhodes & Gelman (2009) reported substantial differences between

US Midwestern rural and suburban samples in tendencies to essentialize race and gender, and research in folkbiology finds different developmental trajectories for urban, suburban, and rural children (Coley 2012, Coley & Tanner 2012, Herrmann et al. 2010). There are also differences in conceptions of evolution associated with different religious orientations within the United States (Evans 2001).

A small but growing body of research explores how cognition interacts with lifestyle differences across non-Western, small-scale societies (Uskul et al. 2008). For instance, hunter-gatherer and farming communities differ in patterns of child development and parenting (Hewlett et al. 2011). Echoing trends found in the United States, folkbiological reasoning also differs between indigenous individuals who reside in traditional rural settings and those residing in modernized town settings (Shenton et al. 2011).

The majority of cultural studies involve between-group comparisons and are not geared to explore within-group differences. Yet attention to within-group variation may offer insight into the distributed, evolving nature of cultural knowledge. One way to explore such variation is through cultural consensus modeling, which measures the degree to which individuals share a consensus within a domain (Romney et al. 1986). Such analyses can reveal nuanced variations in mental models that inform theories of conceptual knowledge: For example, men and women in Guatemalan Ladino communities make different inferences about specific ecological relations between forest-dwelling animals and plants, suggesting that folkecological models are linked to gendered expertise (Atran & Medin 2008, p. 216). Likewise, within-group variation in folkecological knowledge can be traced along intergenerational lines (Le Guen et al. 2013).

Intriguingly, coherent between-culture differences may not be accompanied by a corresponding patterning of within-culture differences at the individual level (Na et al. 2010). That is, relationships that distinguish between cultures at the group level (e.g., individualistic orientations are linked to low-context reasoning and collectivistic orientations to high-context reasoning) need not and do not similarly distinguish related differences among individuals within those cultures (i.e., among Westerners, more individualistic people are not also lower-context thinkers). This observation offers a perspective different from studies that link individuals' cognitive measures (e.g., contextual information produced in drawings) and their cultural styles (e.g., cultural tests of context sensitivity) on the expectation that culture-level differences found between groups will also predict individual differences within groups (Istomin et al. 2014). Further research is needed to clarify the (sometimes counterintuitive) interrelations of cultural and cognitive orientations at these different levels of analysis. So far, the general lesson from this growing body of research is that culture and concepts involve multiple, correlated dimensions that vary with different forms of subsets of larger groups (e.g., religion, residency, class), all of which can be expected to interact in complex ways.

Culture and the Brain

Recent reviews have highlighted cultural influences on cognition across multiple levels of analysis, from neuroscience and embodiment to higher-order cognition (Kitayama & Uskul 2011, Seligman & Brown 2010). Some new approaches argue that culture may be embrained in neurological pathways through repeated behavioral practices for a hard culture-mind interface that is not always mediated by soft cognitive mechanisms (Chiao & Immordino-Yang 2013, Han et al. 2013, Kitayama & Uskul 2011). In short, culture may wire the brain (Park & Huang 2010).

Neuroscience studies increasingly offer support for this view. For example, localized neural activation associated with attention to contextual information is more pronounced for Chinese than for American participants while making physical causal judgments, in line with holistic or

Folkecology: intuitive understanding of interactions among plants, animals (including humans), inanimates (soil, rocks), and dynamic

processes (weather and

water systems)

analytic reasoning styles (Han et al. 2011). An emerging body of work is revealing a patterning of differences in brain activation on various cognitive and perceptual tasks across culture and age (e.g., Park & Gutchess 2006, Reuter-Lorenz & Park 2010). More broadly, researchers propose that the causal relations among brain, body, and culture are multidirectional, such that different patterns of neural activation and psychophysiology may form the basis of, and be caused by, embodied cultural practices (Seligman & Brown 2010).

Interdisciplinary Collaborations

Interdisciplinary teams are changing the kinds of questions asked and the data brought to bear on cognitive questions. The present template for these collaborations was set by economists and anthropologists interested in studying decision making involving economic games across cultures (Henrich et al. 2005, House et al. 2013).

Interdisciplinary collaborations have made notable contributions to experimental philosophy, causal cognition, and folkpsychology. Philosophers are using empirical studies to investigate philosophical intuitions among ordinary folk, such as the distinction between the concepts of knowing versus believing that is critical to epistemology, with the result that intuitive principles that were previously presumed universal are now suspected to vary as a function of culture, socioeconomic status, and gender (Buckwalter 2012, Buckwalter & Stich 2014, Weinberg et al. 2001). Related work addresses folk concepts of intentionality and morality (Knobe & Burra 2006, Knobe et al. 2012, Sarkissian et al. 2010).

Another project has brought together anthropologists, linguists, psychologists, and philosophers to study causal reasoning across cultures (Bender & Beller 2013). One significant result of the collaboration has been heightened attention to social dimensions of causal reasoning (Bender & Beller 2013, Stenning & Widlok 2013, Whitehouse 2011). For example, people may engage in rituals to achieve an instrumental physical outcome (e.g., curing an illness), but they do so in ways that reflect normative, social causal frameworks (e.g., establishing relationships with forces of good) (Whitehouse 2011). Another example comes from hunting: The San of Namibia hunt termites using methods based on social causation geared toward seducing the termites and taking their perspective to predict where they will emerge; in such cases, physical causal reasoning seems inadequate to describe people's conceptual behavior (Stenning & Widlok 2013). Finally, another major interdisciplinary project has studied morality, folkpsychology, and artifacts with a focus on the cognitive and evolutionary foundations of culture (House et al. 2013, Laurence 2014).

Proponents of a more interdisciplinary cognitive science have argued for the benefits, even the necessity, of bringing multiple perspectives to bear on cognitive questions (see special issue in Bender & Beller 2011b). Many projects have adopted the strategy of running standard psychological tasks with samples around the world (e.g., Barrett et al. 2013, Henrich et al. 2005), but interdisciplinary diversity can also be leveraged to challenge the research process itself. Given that psychological research and theory tailored to Western samples tend to limit the framework of cultural investigations to Western norms and problems (Medin et al. 2010), a critical advantage of multidisciplinary and multicultural teams is their ability to formulate new (or revised) starting points for theory and methods concerning concepts (Medin & Bang 2014). This challenge remains a vital one, as the research reviewed below attests.

Summary

These advances in cultural comparisons contribute new perspectives to the science of culture and concepts, many of which are highlighted in this review. With this nuanced view of culture in

mind, the stage is set for considering conceptual behavior from multiple cultural perspectives. We begin with the notion of concepts themselves, exploring their status as units of thought from a cross-linguistic perspective.

CULTURE, LANGUAGE, AND CONCEPTS

A large body of research takes advantage of language differences by trying to trace their cognitive consequences (or antecedents) (see edited collection in Malt & Wolff 2010). In the following section, we highlight cross-linguistic research that analyzes how words can speak to the nature of concepts. Introducing language in terms of cognitive consequences or antecedents implicitly construes the relationship between the two as ordered, from cause to effect. These causal influences have been hotly debated since Whorf [1956 (2012)] introduced the idea of linguistic relativity, which holds that the language we speak determines the concepts we think. Today the debate is often reframed as a system of mutual influence in which concepts and language reciprocally interact (Fausey et al. 2010).

Word-Concept Mappings: Cross-Linguistic Perspectives

Relations between language and concepts traditionally have been explored through documentation of semantic fields such as ethnobiological classification terms (Berlin 1992, Berlin et al. 1974) or spatial lexemes. Such approaches assume that word-concept mappings are fairly direct, by identifying single lexical items (e.g., the word "dog") with concepts (the concept DOG)—an idea still important in psychology (e.g., Carey, 2009), especially for object concepts (Waxman & Gelman 2009). Recent linguistic studies offer a more complex view of word-concept relations (Malt & Majid 2013, Malt & Wolff 2010, Malt et al. 2014, Sauter et al. 2011).

In a study of human locomotion terms, Malt et al. (2008) analyzed how speakers of four languages (English, Spanish, Dutch, Japanese) assigned words to various forms of human locomotion (e.g., jumping, hopping) depicted in action videos. Of interest were not only individual word-action mappings, but also the way that words from different languages might cluster around (potentially shared) dimensions of movement. On the first point, languages did mark movements differently at the level of single lexical items such as "jumping" versus "hopping" (note that such lexical items might be identified as concepts under common psychological methods). On the second point, however, multidimensional scaling showed that all four languages tracked similar discontinuities in locomotion corresponding to biomechanical and speed/aggressiveness dimensions of movement. Importantly, this shared conceptual space did not map precisely onto the words of any single language. On the basis of these and other findings, Malt et al. (2014) proposed that concepts do not represent stable sets of features but instead track dimensions of thought "experienced as a coherent grouping" (p. 37).

One way that language influences categorization is through linguistic features such as classifiers used to mark kinds of things by shape, number, or other features. These classifiers may influence preferred categorization strategies simply due to shared linguistic structure rather than presumed conceptual structure. For example, German and Chinese children's categorization and induction strategies follow either taxonomic or thematic patterns depending on the linguistic classifiers for the task items (Imai et al. 2010). This finding undermines more sweeping claims about culture-wide East-West differences in thematic versus taxonomic conceptual styles. As Imai et al. (2010) observed, categorization behavior is only one index of conceptual structure that should be contextualized in a global picture of cognition that includes multiple constraints on conceptual behavior.

In summary, studies on the interaction of words and concepts across cultures refine claims about cultural cognitive styles based on any given task or set of (language-specific) words. Broadening the range of concepts examined and highlighting the shifting nature of at least some types of categories and concepts lend a nuanced view to the interaction of culture and conceptual strategies. Systematic cross-linguistic studies are critical to understanding the range of variation in conceptual systems. As Malt and colleagues (2013) caution, "It seems impossible to discern from only a single language what the shared elements will be and which parts of the patterns are idiosyncratic to the language" (p. 31).

Linguistic and Conceptual Diversity Across Cultures

Whereas locomotion terms differ lexically but converge on common conceptual dimensions, researchers have argued that there are other domains in which languages reflect basic conceptual divergence (Evans & Levinson 2009). Studies in this field are generally motivated by the question, If languages have different words, do their speakers possess correspondingly different concepts? There are at least two possibilities. Despite surface variation, all languages may share underlying concepts. If concepts share universal structure, this could imply that languages will too—that is, that humans will categorize and name the biological world in ways that track "beacons on the landscape of biological reality" (Berlin 1992, p. 53). Another view holds that linguistic systems are shaped by local communicative and social constraints (Evans & Levinson 2009) and that properties of language are as variable as the diversity in human social systems.

Language may affect how people construct notions of agency (Fausey & Boroditsky 2011, Fausey et al. 2010). Linguistically, there are different ways to mark agents involved in intentional versus accidental events. English allows speakers to specify the agent who caused an accidental event ("she broke the vase"), but Japanese and Spanish tend to omit the agent in such cases ("the vase broke"). Recent evidence suggests that these linguistic differences affect eyewitness memory for agents involved in accidental events. Compared with English speakers, Spanish and Japanese speakers are less likely to remember the agents involved in accidental, but not intentional, events (Fausey & Boroditsky 2011, Fausey et al. 2010).

Another set of investigations looks at how language influences sensory experience and associated concepts (see special issue, introduced by Majid & Levinson 2011). This work refines universalist claims about human sensation by showing how diverse languages facilitate differing modes and degrees of sensory discrimination. For example, although it was long thought that humans (represented by English speakers) are poor at discriminating odors, recent work undermines this generalization (Majid & Burenhult 2014). Compared with English, the Jahai language has many olfactory names, and its speakers are substantially better than English speakers at discriminating unfamiliar odors.

Researchers have argued that language reflects variable concepts associated with other domains such as time perception (Núñez & Sweetser 2006) and spatial reasoning (Haun et al. 2011) (but see Li et al. 2011). Spatial reasoning represents one domain in which researchers have gone beyond singular, lexicalized notions of concepts to focus on language as one component of a system that also includes gesture, metaphor, ideology, and worldview. A growing body of findings demonstrates that people's preferred spatial frameworks (coordinate systems for referring to location and direction) may reflect cultural factors rather than language per se. For example, Yucatec Maya children gesture with absolute (cardinal) directions before they learn Maya spatial reference terms (Le Guen 2011), so spatial frameworks are not exclusive products of language.

Other researchers propose that conceptual frameworks for space may conform to ideological rather than linguistic constraints (Núñez & Cornejo 2012). This claim derives from an analysis of

the origins of a unique linguistic phenomenon among the Aymara of the Andes. When Aymara speakers describe things in space, they use an absolute frame but encode it with intrinsic lexemes. For example, "in back/front of" can and is used for "west/east of." This intrinsic-for-absolute encoding is cognitively robust, expressed in spontaneous cospeech gesture, Andean Spanish, metaphors, and urban layouts. But critically, the Aymara language has words corresponding to "east" and "west." Why then do Aymara speakers use the intrinsic terms for "back" and "front"? The authors point to the Aymara worldview, which perceives the entire community as part of nature, a social system that is canonically oriented toward and faces the sunrise. Thus, Aymara do not use absolute (east-west) terms to describe their spatial layout because doing so "would portray an empty meaningless land, deprived of its constitutive humanity" (Núñez & Cornejo 2012, p. 24).

Domain specificity:

the view that concepts are structured by specialized cognitive capacities tied to particular content domains or causal principles

Summary

Recent investigations suggest that concepts are products of multiple cultural systems that include linguistic, sensory, and ideological components, among others. Just as concepts interact with language, language itself is situated within and responsive to cultural forces.

DOMAIN SPECIFICITY

Significant bodies of work have explored how conceptual thought and development are organized in terms of domain-specific theories and causal principles (Carey 2009, Sperber & Hirschfeld 2004, Wellman & Gelman 1992). In this view, concepts are structured and constrained by intuitive causal-explanatory frameworks tied to the particular ontological domains of folkphysics, folkbiology, and folkpsychology (Keil 1995, Wellman & Gelman 1992). The following section reviews cultural research addressing concepts from the vantage point of these domains (including work by proponents of both domain-specific and domain-general perspectives). Much of this work reflects a developmental orientation (see Keil 2007).

Folkphysics

Experience of the physical world seems relatively direct and unmediated (compared with the social world), so it is not surprising that naïve physics or folkphysics (knowledge about physical objects and events) traditionally has been assumed to be largely independent of cultural influence. This view is being reexamined in light of research documenting both within-culture and cross-cultural variations in conceptions of physical interaction.

The well-known studies of Morris & Peng (1994) focused on East-West differences in the perception of social causality, where the lack of cultural differences in the perception of physical causality acted more or less as a baseline or control condition. But just a few years later researchers began to explore the hypothesis that East-West differences in causal attributions extend also to nonsocial, physical events (Nisbett et al. 2001, Peng & Knowles 2003). On this account, East-ern folk theories of physics should emphasize external, relational factors in causal determination of physical events (in line with their collectivist orientation), and Western folk theories should emphasize dispositional factors of the object (in line with their individualistic orientation).

As predicted, when asked to interpret ambiguous physical events such as a round object bobbing on a surface, Chinese participants saw the event as attributable to the relation between object and medium, whereas US participants attributed causality to the properties of the object itself. These results suggested that folk theories of physics are open to cultural influence, including, as Peng & Knowles (2003) found, cultural forms of knowledge acquired through physics education.

Recent findings extend and complicate this view. In one series of studies involving similar judgments about floating (Beller et al. 2009, Bender & Beller 2011a), German and Tongan informants were asked about physical interactions with probes that varied contents, entities, and linguistic construction. Replicating what would be expected on the individualistic-collectivistic paradigm, Germans (a more individualistic society) tended to attribute prime causality to the floater object, while Tongans (a more collectivistic society) attributed causality to the medium. Importantly, however, these cultural patterns were modulated by task content and linguistic agency construction (Bender & Beller 2011a).

Furthermore, analysis of individual response distributions within a culture complicates the generalizations that can be drawn about causal reasoning styles (Bender & Beller 2011a). Given that each participant in the study above saw nine event scenarios, their overall attribution profile could reflect either a balanced causal attribution pattern (equal number of assignments to objects and carriers) or an asymmetric causal bias (strongly favoring either object or carrier). On average, Tongans looked less biased toward causal asymmetry than Germans did. But the Tongan response distribution was in fact bimodal, with most informants giving either a consistent carrier or object attribution profile (and the majority preferring the former). Individual Germans, in contrast, tended toward a less extreme but more consistent object-bias attribution pattern. Thus, Tongan informants presented even stronger asymmetric causal bias in physical attributions than Germans did, in direct contrast to what would be predicted for a collectivistic society that attends to relational context. This finding underscores how individual response patterns within cultural groups are critical to making sense of conceptual orientations.

Other research focuses on the complexity of causal beliefs in the physical domain (reviewed in Spencer-Rodgers et al. 2010). This work finds that, across both physical and nonphysical domains, East Asians tend to mobilize a larger set of causal antecedents and consequences for events than Westerners do. This is known as the ripple effect (Maddux & Yuki 2006). When considering a shot in a game of pool, for example, East Asian participants were more likely than Western participants to say it would impact both immediate and distant future shots (e.g., the sixth shot), reflecting a focus on indirect, distal consequences of events. These beliefs also influence causal reasoning processes, as when East Asians consider a broader array of factors as relevant to causal attribution than do Westerners (Choi et al. 2003, Koo & Choi 2005). Another aspect of causal complexity concerns beliefs about change across time, with East Asian children and adults holding expectations of cyclical change (linked to naïve dialecticism) and Westerners tending to expect linear change (Ji 2008, Ji et al. 2001).

To summarize, research on physical causal reasoning demonstrates that cross-cultural comparisons are necessary to test the generalizability of cognitive phenomena. For example, the causal asymmetry bias has long been seen as a signature feature of human causal cognition (Michotte 1963, White 2006), much as the fundamental attribution error was once seen as a natural feature of social reasoning (Morris et al. 1995). However, cultural research shows that the asymmetric bias can be stronger or weaker, and even reverse directionality, depending upon one's cultural folk theories.

More broadly, research on folkphysics speaks to important questions about concepts and culture. Cultural diversity may emerge in patterns of frequency rather than categorical differences: Individuals in all cultures may have access to multiple causal theories and appear to access these modes selectively in response to contextual demands. Given that culture encompasses many factors—including language, education, philosophical orientations, and social norms—that potentially influence causal cognition in multiple directions, it is inadequate to treat culture as a monolithic construct that determines "one coherent pattern" of causal cognition (Bender & Beller 2011a, p. 2).

Folkbiology

People's understanding of life is encompassed by folkbiology. Biological thought may involve multiple causal frameworks (vitalism, teleology, essentialism) for understanding life across multiple scales, including adaptation (evolution), life cycles (birth, growth, death), and organism functioning (illness, organs). Cultural research has been conducted on all these topics, but here we focus on research addressing understandings of nature and folkbiological knowledge of nonhuman animals and plants.

Central to folkbiology are the concepts of life and animacy, including how these concepts are organized in relation to one another. Are humans animals? Are plants alive? For children, the answer to both questions often is no. Reasoning about these conceptual questions varies across development (Opfer & Gelman 2001, 2010) and across cultures, influenced by language, experience, and cultural beliefs about living kinds. With regard to language, Indonesian and US children's early reasoning about the living things category is influenced by their language's naming practices that either include (English) or exclude (Indonesian) humans from the semantic category of animal (Anggoro et al. 2010). These language differences also extend to parent-child discourse about human-animal categories in naturalistic settings, even though parents in both cultures rarely talk about humans as animals (Leddon et al. 2011). This shared habit of discourse across two different languages, taken together with the finding that linguistic influences on children's categorization attenuate with age (Anggoro et al. 2010), suggests that biological reasoning is influenced by factors other than language alone, including cultural orientations to the natural world and experience (Tarlowski 2006, 2011).

Research on the concepts of alive and animate within the Wichí community of Argentina illuminates the multifaceted nature of these concepts (Taverna et al. 2012, 2014). For both children and adults, the concept of living thing branches according to distinctive linguistic construals and cultural beliefs. The primary construal for the word "alive" taps into the set of animate things (i.e., excluding plants) believed to have vital spirits, and this pattern holds even for Wichí adults, thus diverging from Western adult populations. In contrast, the primary construal for the word "die" taps into the set of all living things (i.e., including plants). One way to interpret these findings is that Wichí approach the concept of living thing through multiple perspectives.

Complementing this work on individual concepts, other cultural investigations have begun to explore the broader conceptual frameworks for organizing folkbiological knowledge (see Erickson et al. 2010). Although broad similarities in folk taxonomic categories are now well documented cross-culturally (Atran & Medin 2008, Berlin 1992), there is considerable cultural divergence in how knowledge about these categories is organized (Levin & Unsworth 2013). Depending on their culture and expertise, individuals tend to privilege either taxonomic similarities (e.g., European American individuals) or ecological relations (e.g., indigenous individuals) when reasoning about biological phenomena (Medin et al. 2006). These differences between Native American Menominee and European American rural communities have been replicated with young (five- to seven-year-old) children (Unsworth et al. 2012). For example, when describing relationships among natural kinds, children from both groups used habitat relations, but Menominee children were reliably more likely to mention relations involving food chains (e.g., the stink bug might eat the leaves of the berry bush) and biological needs (e.g., both need water, sunlight, or soil).

Another critical theoretical question concerns the proposition that the initial organizing framework for folkbiological concepts is human centered. One influential theory proposed a universal conceptual trajectory whereby children first reason about folkbiology from an anthropocentric standpoint (Carey 1985). This notion is consistent with the claim that folkbiology is initially a part of folkpsychology and only emerges as a distinct domain with development.

Support for Carey's view came from studies showing that urban five-year-old children in the United States tend to treat humans as the prototype for inductive reasoning about biological kinds. That is, they were more likely to extend a novel property to other animals when it was attributed to humans than when it was attributed to dogs. They also generalized from humans to dogs much more than from dogs to humans.

Subsequent studies using Carey's procedure with rural indigenous (Menominee) and European American children showed no evidence of a human-centered biology (Waxman & Medin 2007). One possibility is that a human-centered biology is a learned cultural model driven partly by anthropomorphic images in children's films and books. An alternative conjecture is that all children go through a human-centered stage of development but that rural children just go through it sooner.

Resolution to this question came from a study showing that urban three-year-old children do not yet adopt a human-centered perspective, but that four- and five-year-olds do (Herrmann et al. 2010). Thus, the anthropocentric pattern of reasoning is an acquired cultural perspective, one that emerges between three and five years of age in US children raised in urban settings and one that can be primed by media directed at children (Waxman et al. 2014).

In summary, even basic concepts such as alive can shift as thinkers adopt different perspectives afforded by their language, cultural beliefs, media, or orientations to nature. It appears that the most salient effects of culture on biological cognition are less in terms of individual concepts and more in terms of framework theories that, for example, see humans as a part of or apart from nature or foster a taxonomic versus an ecological conceptual organization.

Folkpsychology

Understanding others in terms of minds and mental states is known as folkpsychology. Folkpsychological concepts have assumed a central role in several interrelated research areas, including theory of mind, mind perception, and morality (see reviews in Waytz et al. 2010, Wellman 2010). Following an important review of culture and folkpsychology almost 20 years ago (Lillard 1998), there has been steady empirical research and interdisciplinary conversation on these topics (Danziger & Rumsey 2013, Luhrmann 2011). We begin with a synthesis of cultural patterns from the large literature on standard theory-of-mind tasks and then consider how these mental-state concepts are organized and situated in larger contexts of knowledge.

Theory of mind involves several interrelated concepts, including the understanding that people can hold false beliefs about reality (false belief), that knowledge depends on perceptual access (knowledge access), that people have different opinions and beliefs about the world (diverse desires and beliefs), and that people sometimes hide their true emotions from others (hidden emotions) (Wellman & Liu 2004). One particular task, the false-belief task, is widely considered the definitive test of theory of mind (Wellman et al. 2001). In most versions of the task, one character puts an object in Container A and leaves the room, at which point the object is moved by a different

¹Given that the cross-cultural research has focused on theory-of-mind development in early childhood, verbal measures are the focus of this discussion. Other research shows that infants have expectations about an ignorant actor's initial search location in false-belief tests, as inferred from infants' looking-time patterns (Onishi & Baillargeon 2005, Senju et al. 2011). How infant capacities relate to later-developing theory of mind is debated; regardless, claims for universal cognitive capacities will also need to consider the range of cultural diversity that appears beyond infancy, as reviewed here (even as assessed by looking-time measures; see Barrett et al. 2013).

actor to a new location, Container B. When the first character returns to the room, participants are asked, "Where will she look for the object?" or "Where does she think/believe it is?" Young children incorrectly say she will look in the true location (Container B); but by three to five years of age most US children appreciate that she will look in Container A because she does not know the object has been moved. In passing this task, children demonstrate appreciation of the critical insight that mental states can diverge from reality and that they are linked to perception and behavior (Flavell et al. 2002).

By now, many cross-cultural comparisons have been conducted using standard theory-of-mind tasks (which were developed for use among Western research populations and therefore are potentially tailored to these same populations). Most of these studies simply aim to test theory-of-mind generalizability (where the more different the groups, the stronger the test), but a few assess specific predictions about local theories of mind. The results reveal a somewhat mixed picture whose interpretation varies across researchers (e.g., Wassmann et al. 2013).

On the one hand, children and adults in many cultures perform successfully on standard tasks, as demonstrated by extensive survey studies comparing children across multiple large-scale societies (e.g., Callaghan et al. 2005, Shahaeian et al. 2011, Wellman et al. 2001). On the other hand, some studies among small-scale societies report that children pass false-belief tasks at ages slightly later but roughly comparable to those observed among Western children, including communities of Micronesia (Oberle 2009), Cameroonian Baka (Avis & Harris 1991), and Yucatec Maya (Knight et al. 2004). These profiles of similarity are often taken as evidence that basic mental-state concepts are universal and reflect an invariant foundational framework theory for later-developing cultural folkpsychologies (Wellman et al. 2011).

Against this broad consensus, three major forms of cultural variability can be identified from recent studies. The first can be characterized as quantitative, concerning age variation. In comparative studies, children from non-Western or small-scale communities sometimes appear delayed relative to otherwise consistent cross-cultural trends (e.g., Callaghan et al. 2005; Mayer & Träuble 2013; Naito & Koyama 2006; Vinden 1999, 2002). For example, one study of children's false-belief performance among five cultural groups (Euro-Canadian, Indian, Peruvian, Samoan, and Thai) reported a common false-belief milestone at roughly five years of age, with the exception that Samoan children evidenced considerable delays (Callaghan et al. 2005). A recent follow-up study with more than 300 Samoan children found that false-belief understanding did not reliably emerge for the majority of children until 8 years of age, and even then, one third of 10- to 13-year-olds still failed the task (Mayer & Träuble 2013). These are huge differences compared to the four- to five-year landmark reported for children in Western societies.

Another framing of this trend is to say that Western children appear oddly advanced relative to children the world over. Indeed, in studies comparing Mofu, Tolai, Tainae, and Western children, Western children were the only ones at or near ceiling on all four theory-of-mind test questions by age six. In other communities, comparable levels of success were not achieved until anywhere from 7 to 15 years of age (Vinden 1999, 2002). Lacking broader investigation of children's folkpsychological understanding in these diverse societies, it is difficult to interpret such age differences—seeing their development as delayed seems to adopt a deficit model that may well be ethnocentric.

A second, more qualitative source of variability is seen in children's developmental trajectory for mastering specific tasks (e.g., Shahaeian et al. 2011; Wellman et al. 2006, 2011). For example, Chinese and Iranian children understand concepts of knowledge access earlier than opinion diversity, an order reversed for Australian and US children. These developmental differences are clearly not delays but rather suggest distinct sociocultural influences on cognitive development. One hypothesis is that the two sequences reflect collectivist versus individualist cultural orientations, which

differentially emphasize the value of personal beliefs and knowledge acquisition (Shahaeian et al. 2011). Still, these researchers interpret their results as evidence that "cross-cultural variations exist within broadly culturally consistent, if not universal, patterns" (Shahaeian et al. 2011, p. 1,245).

A third source of variability comes from categorical differences in theory-of-mind task performance. Several research projects with youth in small-scale communities have failed to produce expected results using standard theory-of-mind tasks. For example, one recent study reported standard outcomes for false-belief understanding from three small-scale societies, but results from a fourth field site in Kenya were not included because these children (no ages reported) did not show the expected preferential-looking patterns on false-belief tasks (Barrett et al. 2013). Similarly, false-belief tasks could not be administered with children from a Junín Quechua community of Peru, apparently due to different understandings of the task itself (Vinden 1996).

Explaining cultural variability in theory-of-mind performance is a challenge. Some researchers point to methodological issues, including children's unfamiliarity with task contents, experimental settings, or shyness with adult researchers (e.g., Knight et al. 2004). Other investigators suggest that children attend to, or perhaps interpret, the false-belief task differently. For example, with regard to the failed administration of a false-belief task in Kenya, these children may have been attending to "the social demands of the testing situation rather than to the task itself" (Barrett et al. 2013, supplementary materials S.6, p. 27). The current consensus appears to view all three sources of variation as modest and methodological.

But a minority voice argues that observed cultural differences point to a more basic diversity in conceptions of the mind and mental world. In Samoa, for instance, children's delayed false-belief understanding may reflect local conceptions about the "opacity of other minds" (Mayer & Träuble 2013), associated with the practice common to Oceanic communities whereby people refrain from explicit discussion of others' mental states (Robbins & Rumsey 2008).

An important contribution to this literature comes from research programs that explore how folkpsychological concepts are organized by conceptual frameworks and everyday practices. For example, attention to internal mental states is prized in Western middle-class contexts, where talk about mental states is found to enhance theory-of-mind development (Doan & Wang 2010). In contrast, attention to social situations, external actions, and context are emphasized in Chinese culture, and Chinese children advance in false-belief understanding through talk about others' actions rather than mental states (Lu et al. 2008). These findings point to the potential significance of variable mental-state language and discourse across cultures (Danziger & Rumsey 2013, Goddard 2010).

Another approach to folkpsychological concepts analyzes how children's concepts of minds and mental states are learned via social testimony (Harris & Koenig 2006). For example, in Western communities, children gradually learn from social testimony to construct a metaphor of the brain as a container for thoughts, and to discriminate the brain's role in psychological processes from common metaphorical allusions to the heart, gut, and other peripheral body parts (Gottfried & Jow 2003, Winer et al. 2009).

Comparable studies of social testimony about the mind in other cultures are rare, but ethnographic reports suggest that they would be informative (Luhrmann 2011). Related research explores how mental-state concepts organize everyday practices and knowledge in adjacent domains, including morality (especially concepts of intentionality) (Lee & Evans 2013, Sachdeva et al. 2011) and emotional states (e.g., Lim et al. 2010). These approaches help situate specific mental-state competencies (e.g., false belief) within larger conceptual frameworks. The next step might be to develop theory and methods that can assess how folkpsychological concepts are organized differently across cultures, and to explore what other competencies may be privileged indicators of social-cognitive understanding among children in small-scale, non-Western societies.

Summary

Discussions of universality and variability in domains of folkphysics, folkbiology, and folkpsychology have highlighted diverse perspectives on concepts. One lesson from this research is that basic concepts such as physical cause, living kind, or mind are construed in different ways depending on perspectives afforded by context, language, knowledge, social testimony, and cultural orientations. Diverse cultural folk theories may serve to selectively highlight distinct aspects of events or things in the world while deemphasizing others, yet still be based on a common foundation for discriminating those core phenomena (e.g., Peng & Knowles 2003, p. 1,283). For instance, cultures may differ in their focus on either the internal mental aspect or the external relational aspect of folkpsychology, but both cultural orientations afford "pathways for theory of mind development" that support social-cognitive competency (Lu et al. 2008). One important implication is that conceptual frameworks are intrinsically pluralistic, which brings us to the next topic of discussion.

Cross-domain interactions:

concepts and causal principles that involve mappings across domains of folk knowledge

EXTENDING DOMAIN SPECIFICITY

Essential to domain specificity is the proposal that unique causal principles and explanatory theories guide understanding of physical, biological, or psychological events. Yet a growing body of research shows how physical, biological, and psychological knowledge interact at the levels of concepts, explanatory frameworks, and novel folk theoretical perspectives.

Conceptual Domains at the Intersections

Researchers are now beginning to ask what happens at the intersections of domains, with many inquiries organized around two motivating observations: (a) Everyday concepts often involve cross-domain interactions, raising questions about conceptual integration across domains; and (b) people readily reason about events in terms of multiple, different kinds of causes, pointing to the potential fluidity of explanatory frameworks.

Cross-domain concepts: the case of psychophysical dualism. Cultural ideas associated with concepts of mental-physical dualism have generated a great deal of interest (Bloom 2005, Cohen 2007, Cohen et al. 2011, Hodge 2008, Slingerland & Chudek 2011, Wellman & Johnson 2008). The primary question concerns how people reason about the interactions of psychological events with biological or physical events. For example, people may believe that biological events such as heart attacks are linked to psychological causes, or that depression has both physical causes and consequences. At first glance, such beliefs may seem to complicate the dualistic distinction between mind and body.

Illness beliefs have been an informative site for investigating cross-domain mind-body concepts. Many illnesses include psychophysical events (e.g., stomachaches) that involve both biological and psychological factors. Given this cross-domain aspect, people might conceptualize such events in at least two distinct ways. Some research offers evidence for an intuitive cognitive division between psychological and biological causes (reviewed in Gelman & Noles 2011). For example, three- to five-year-old children in the United States are less likely to construe cross-domain psychological (versus within-domain biological) factors as causally related to events such as stomachaches (Schulz et al. 2007), and similar patterns are reported for Japanese preschool children (Toyama 2010).

But the tendency to keep psychological and biological causes separate may vary with cultural perspectives. For example, Lynch & Medin (2006) compared the causal models of energy healers and mainstream nurses for depression and heart attacks. Both groups generate both physical

and psychological factors as relevant but energy healers systematically integrated mental and physical causes for a given disease, whereas mainstream nurses systematically dissociated them (kept them on separate causal paths). Using similar methods to explore illness models among Mexican immigrants to the United States, other researchers have found that social, physical, and psychological causes play an important role in illness explanations, and that immigrants' models diverge from those of US laypersons and medical providers (Maupin & Ross 2012, Maupin et al. 2011, Mendenhall et al. 2010, Weller et al. 2012). These differences suggest that culture may influence the intuitive boundedness of the psychological domain and its relationship with the biological domain (see also Ahn et al. 2009, Nguyen & Rosengren 2004, Zhu et al. 2009).

Some observers argue that concepts of mind and matter are fundamentally variable across cultural groups and that mental-physical dualism represents a particular historical tradition rather than a universal feature of thought (Hodge 2008, Scheper-Hughes & Lock 1987). Others claim that diverse cultural beliefs about mind and body nonetheless exhibit shared conceptual dualism (Astuti 2001), as when people from different cultures treat similar sets of psychological (e.g., knowing) but not physiological (e.g., hunger) processes as dissociable from the body (Cohen et al. 2011). This field is one to watch as interdisciplinary approaches are increasingly brought to bear on mind-body concepts (e.g., Slingerland & Chudek 2011).

Multiple causation: coexisting explanatory frameworks. Another area of inquiry focuses on coexisting explanatory frameworks that integrate natural and supernatural domains (Legare et al. 2012).² These studies investigate attributions of multiple causation, whereby a single event (e.g., the collapse of a granary) is attributed to several causes that derive from different intuitive frameworks (e.g., both termites and witchcraft) (Evans-Pritchard 1937). Several lines of research address developmental and cultural influences on explanatory models for illness, death, and the origin of natural kinds (Casler & Kelemen 2008, Legare et al. 2012, Rosengren & Gutiérrez 2011, Rosengren et al. 2000).

Consider the case study of causal-explanatory reasoning about AIDS in South Africa (Legare & Gelman 2008), where cultural beliefs about the causal origins of AIDS draw upon factors related to witchcraft as well as biology. Given that people have access to multiple, discrete explanatory frameworks for reasoning about the causes of AIDS, how do they accommodate these diverse causal concepts? Both children and adults use coexisting explanatory frameworks—that is, they draw on both natural (i.e., biological) and supernatural causes to explain a single event (e.g., why a person might contract AIDS), often at different levels of causal analysis. The structure of these coexistence models varies across individuals: Different frameworks can be more or less integrated in individuals' explanations. For example, natural and supernatural frameworks may be integrated ("A witch can put you in the way of viruses and germs") or remain as distinct, alternative views of the world ("Witchcraft can cause a disease that looks like AIDS") (Legare et al. 2012, p. 783).

In addition, cultural epistemologies are linked to the perceived relevance of different explanatory frameworks across groups. In the United States, for example, fundamentalist Christians are more likely than other Americans to appeal to supernatural causes to explain the origin of species (Evans 2001). This raises questions about why and how people come to consider certain causal-explanatory frameworks relevant. New research has begun to investigate the kinds of events that attract spontaneous explanation across development and cultures (Legare & Gelman 2014; see also Subbotsky 2010, Subbotsky & Quinteros 2002, Woolley 2000).

²Here, natural concepts are defined as ideas that fall under natural conceptual domains (e.g., folkbiology) or that involve "(in principle) observable and empirically verifiable phenomena" (e.g., germs), and supernatural beliefs involve "kinds that are supernatural" (witchcraft, religion) from an "intuitive, psychological perspective" (Legare et al. 2012, pp. 780–81).

Summary and implications: conceptual domains at the intersections. In sum, a growing body of research shows that explanatory preferences can vary within individuals, depending on the reasoning context, and across cultural communities, with perceived relevance of causes closely linked to cultural epistemologies. The coexistence of causal-explanatory frameworks offers intriguing insights into everyday cognition while offering substantive questions for future work. Understanding how dualistic or supernatural conceptual modes are leveraged in everyday thinking can shed light on the more general phenomenon of causal-explanatory pluralism (e.g., Lombrozo 2010) while sharpening analysis of the psychological distinctiveness of causal frameworks tied to conceptual domains.

Research on coexisting explanatory frameworks heightens attention to naïve reasoning about multiple levels of explanation and extended causal chains, resonating with a growing body of research on complex systems thinking (Hmelo-Silver & Azevedo 2006). This interdisciplinary field focuses on how people understand dynamic systems such as ecological or social systems (e.g., Chi et al. 2012, Olson 2013, White 2008). Consider an ecosystem, for example, where causation includes nonlinear processes, feedback loops, and different levels and time frames for causal thinking (Medin et al. 2013). Thinking in levels is particularly important to complex systems thinking and involves viewing a phenomenon from different perspectives pitched at different levels of interaction (e.g., individual behavior and population-level dynamics) (Wilensky & Resnick 1999). This raises the interesting question whether coexisting explanatory frameworks, even if inspired by a single event, are actually explaining the same thing or instead are asking different questions about different levels. More generally, investigating causal cognition from the perspective of complex systems may afford new insights into conceptual behavior. Given that humans are surrounded by complex systems (ecologies, societies, consciousness), this is an area of study that deserves more investigation.

New Perspectives on Domains

Domain-specificity theory has served as a productive lens for viewing cognition, but we are beginning to see signs that the very demarcations of these domains may be culturally infused. We consider folkecology and folksociology as alternative frames.

One potential cultural influence could lie in the focus on folkbiology over folkecology. Above, we reviewed evidence suggesting that for indigenous individuals ecological relations are a more salient organizing framework than taxonomic relations (Bang et al. 2007). This raises the possibility that many concepts traditionally subsumed under folkbiology could also be deeply ecological in nature, that is, focused on the interactions of beings, organisms, weather, and other forces (Medin et al. 2013).

When researchers do address folkecological concepts, they often bring their own perspectives to bear on defining the domain. Consider, for example, Atran & Medin's (2008) work on culture and folkbiology, focused on people's understanding of plants and animals. This research included studies of ecological knowledge involving plants and animals (including humans). Note, however, that if the initial research framing had been in terms of ecosystems, the researchers likely would have included natural inanimates such as rocks, soil, water, the sun, and the moon in their probes. They did not. The umbrella category, folkbiology, may have led them to focus on living kinds (and living kinds from a Western ontological perspective).

Another potential reorientation for domain-specificity theory comes in the form of folksociology or core social cognition (Hirschfeld 2013, Spelke et al. 2013). The proposal for folksociology as a coherent domain is based on the idea that attending to social relations, social roles, and social interactions is a natural and useful way to interpret other people's behavior (Hirschfeld 2006, 2013). The prelinguistic foundations of social cognition may be widely shared across cultures, as

Folksociology: intuitive understanding of other agents in terms of their social qualities, group membership, and social relations

seen for infant pointing with caregivers in the context of joint interaction (Liszkowski et al. 2012). Supportive evidence for the importance of folksociology can be found in the burgeoning literature focused on social knowledge and associated concepts of social relations (Banaji & Gelman 2013).

Part of the argument for folksociology as a conceptual domain stems from the idea that relational reasoning may play a greater role in everyday social cognition than folkpsychological reasoning about mental states (Hirschfeld 2013). This idea is consistent with research from many non-Western communities reporting that folk theories cultivate a focus on relationships and behavior rather than explicit attribution of mental states to others (Danziger 2006, 2010; Danziger & Rumsey 2013; Duranti 2008; Lillard 1998; Luhrmann 2011; Naito & Koyama 2006; Robbins & Rumsey 2008). Compared with Westerners, people in many cultural communities are more likely to take a nonmentalistic approach to the interpretation of people's behavior (Danziger 2006, 2010). For example, Mopan Maya treat the speaker's intentions as irrelevant to the question of lying: Any false utterance is considered a lie even if the speaker believed it to be true and the listener knew that (Danziger 2010). Such evidence implies that Western folkpsychology may be just one model among many in its emphasis on internal mental states.

From the perspective of a folk theory focused on interactions, interpretations of agency may be grounded in concepts of relational behaviors. Consequently, such theories may include a greater diversity of nonhuman agents (e.g., animals, plants) under the umbrella of intentional agency than does standard folkpsychology. This possibility would be consistent with evidence suggesting that cultural perspectives facilitate distinct modes of thinking about nonhuman animals' mental states and perspectives (Knight 2008, Knight et al. 2004, Unsworth et al. 2012). This line of thought brings us back to the question of folkecology and the extent to which people may view interactions among nonhumans as social-relational (Ojalehto et al. 2013).

In sum, by taking a broader view on concepts of the social and natural worlds, researchers are reevaluating the status of fundamental framework theories such as folkpsychology and folkbiology. Whether these particular domains represent culture-specific concerns remains to be seen. On one view, for example, folksociology could complement folkpsychology as a universal framework theory. Alternatively, the folkpsychological framework may reflect particularly Western attitudes, and what has been labeled as folkpsychology in other cultures may actually be more akin to folksociology or even folkcommunication. Future research addressing these possibilities will contribute to our understanding of cultural influences on the organization of conceptual knowledge.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS: MULTIPLE FORMS OF DIVERSITY

The rich contributions of cultural research to our understanding of conceptual behavior are on display in almost every area of human cognition, ranging from spatial reasoning and sensory perception to biological thought and social cognition. It is a testament to the significance of this work that it has generated as many questions for future research as it has insights (see Future Issues, below). We conclude with reflections on how these questions might be approached in the wider context of diverse perspectives in cognitive science.

One recurring theme is the idea that people have multiple perspectives on concepts themselves. Cultural influences on cognition are often best characterized less in terms of individual concepts and more in terms of broader cultural framework theories. For example, both folkbiology and folkpsychology may be contextualized within cultural frameworks that see humans as a part of or apart from nature or view nonhumans as a part of or apart from the (social) realm of relationships (Medin & Bang 2014).

If cultural differences involve habitual ways of organizing concepts rather than stable, localized differences in a cultural concept of x, then this encourages moving beyond research paradigms designed to answer unambiguously whether a concept is universal or variable. The question may not be, Which conceptual framework does a culture have? but rather, Which cultural contexts does a conceptual framework have? The latter question orients away from essentialist treatments of culture as an independent variable and moves toward viewing cultures and concepts as interacting elements of niche construction. Just as organisms and environments select and shape one another over time, so might minds and cultures evolve in constant interaction. On this perspective, the separation between concepts and culture is itself suspect: Within the complex system of minds in community, there are no easy distinctions to be made between concepts and the cultural systems that organize and are organized by them.

The domain-specificity research framework has played a key role in catalyzing our understanding of conceptual development. Recent research has turned to the question of how people conceptualize interactions among these systems, and researchers have begun to question whether progress can be made without a folkecology (interactions between organisms, habitats, and climate systems), a folkdynamics (e.g., weather, wave, or water systems), and a folksociology (relational interactions between persons, human or nonhuman). Traditional cognitive domains may be more conventional than natural. If conventionalized epistemologies play a role in cognitive scientists' paradigms, then it is important to consider how notions about domains affect both what research is done and how it is conducted.

Culturally diverse research teams may have a critical advantage in asking questions and designing methods to get at the possibility of culturally variable conceptual frameworks. Indeed, we speculate that if indigenous researchers had been telling the story of cognition, they would have proposed different conceptual domains (or a different approach to conceptual organization itself) from those privileged on current accounts. Similarly, if Eastern researchers not trained in the West had told the story about East-West differences, it might be more about context and relationships and less about generalized cultural differences along some dimension (e.g., individualism versus collectivism).

Finally, it is only a small step to realize that scientific practices are (cultural) practices, leading us to our concluding comment relating the researchers to those being researched: If the researched have distinctive practices, then surely the researchers also do. Consequently, to the extent that our science incorporates multiple cultural perspectives, it will be the better for it (Medin & Bang 2014).

FUTURE ISSUES

- A key priority continues to be increasing the diversity of study populations. Research
 going beyond "standard samples" (i.e., college students or Internet users in Western
 industrial countries) will contribute to a more inclusive and representative science of
 human conceptual behavior.
- 2. How can the investigation of multiple forms of within-group versus between-group variation in cognitive processes inform deeper understanding of concepts and cultures?
- 3. An important domain of interest concerns how people conceptualize complex systems (systems involving feedback processes, multiple levels of analysis, and emergent phenomena, such as ecosystems and societies). Pursuing this question will afford new insights into causal-explanatory cognition that go beyond linear cause-effect relations.

- 4. In light of the evidence that the traditional domains of folkphysics, folkbiology, and folkpsychology exhibit shifting boundaries and extensive cross-domain interactions across cultures, what is the way forward in domain-specificity theory?
- 5. How are epistemological orientations and worldviews acquired by children, and how are alternative orientations coordinated in multicultural contexts?

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for funding support from the National Science Foundation under grants SES 0962185, DRL 1109210, and DRL 1114530; a Graduate Research Fellowship; AFOSR grant FA9550-14-1-0030; and the Cognitive Science Program at Northwestern University. We thank Cristine Legare, Andrea Bender, Susan Fiske, Rumen Iliev, and Norbert Ross for insightful comments that greatly benefitted the current manuscript. We also thank Jennifer Woodring for extensive editorial and research assistance throughout the writing of this manuscript.

LITERATURE CITED

- Ahn WK, Proctor CC, Flanagan EH. 2009. Mental health clinicians' beliefs about the biological, psychological, and environmental bases of mental disorders. *Cogn. Sci.* 33:147–82
- Anggoro FK, Medin DL, Waxman SR. 2010. Language and experience influence children's biological induction. J. Cogn. Cult. 10:171–87
- Arnett JJ. 2008. The neglected 95%: why American psychology needs to become less American. Am. Psychol. 63:602–14
- Astuti R. 2001. Are we all natural dualists? A cognitive developmental approach. J. R. Anthropol. Inst. 7:429–47

 Atran S, Medin DL. 2008. The Native Mind and the Cultural Construction of Nature. Cambridge, MA: MIT

 Press
- Avis J, Harris PL. 1991. Belief-desire reasoning among Baka children: evidence for a universal conception of mind. Child Dev. 62:460–67
- Banaji MR, Gelman SA. 2013. Navigating the Social World: What Infants, Children, and Other Species Can Teach Us. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Bang M, Medin DL, Atran S. 2007. Cultural mosaics and mental models of nature. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104:13868–74
- Barrett HC, Broesch T, Scott RM, He Z, Baillargeon R, et al. 2013. Early false-belief understanding in traditional non-Western societies. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 280:20122654
- Barsalou LW. 2008. Grounded cognition. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 59:617-45
- Barsalou LW, Wilson CD, Hasenkamp W. 2010. On the vices of nominalization and the virtues of contextualizing. In *The Mind in Context*, ed. M Batja, LF Barrett, ER Smith, pp. 334–60. New York: Guilford
- Beller S, Bender A, Song J. 2009. Weighing up physical causes: effects of culture, linguistic cues and content. 7. Cogn. Cult. 9:347–65
- Bender A, Beller S. 2011a. Causal asymmetry across cultures: assigning causal roles in symmetric physical settings. Front. Psychol. 2:231
- Bender A, Beller S. 2011b. The cultural constitution of cognition: taking the anthropological perspective. Front. Psychol. 2:67

- Bender A, Beller S. 2013. The cultural constitution of causal cognition. ZiF-Mitt. 3:9–13. https://www.uni-bielefeld.de/ZIF/FG/2011Cognition/2013-3_FG_Abschlusstagung.pdf
- Berlin B. 1992. Ethnobiological Classification. Principles of Categorization of Plants and Animals in Traditional Societies. Princeton, NJ: Princeton Univ. Press
- Berlin B, Breedlove DE, Raven PH. 1974. Principles of Tzeltal Plant Classification: An Introduction to the Botanical Ethnography of a Mayan Speaking in Highland Chiapas. New York: Academic
- Bloom P. 2005. Descartes' Baby: How the Science of Child Development Explains What Makes Us Human. New York: Basic Books
- Brumann C. 1999. Writing for culture: why a successful concept should not be discarded. Curr. Anthropol. 40:S1–S27
- Buckwalter W. 2012. Non-traditional factors in judgments about knowledge. Philos. Compass 7:278-89
- Buckwalter W, Stich S. 2014. Gender and philosophical intuition. In Experimental Philosophy: Volume 2, ed. J Knobe, S Nichols, pp. 307–46. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Callaghan T, Rochat P, Lillard A, Claux ML, Odden H, et al. 2005. Synchrony in the onset of mental-state reasoning: evidence from five cultures. *Psychol. Sci.* 16:378–84
- Carey S. 1985. Conceptual Change in Childhood. Cambridge, MA: Bradford Books
- Carey S. 2009. The Origin of Concepts. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Casler K, Kelemen D. 2008. Developmental continuity in teleo-functional explanation: reasoning about nature among Romanian Romani adults. J. Cogn. Dev. 9:340–62
- Chi MT, Roscoe RD, Slotta JD, Roy M, Chase CC. 2012. Misconceived causal explanations for emergent processes. Cogn. Sci. 36:1–61
- Chiao JY, Immordino-Yang MH. 2013. Modularity and the cultural mind: contributions of cultural neuroscience to cognitive theory. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 8:56–61
- Choi I, Dalal R, Kim-Prieto C, Park H. 2003. Culture and judgment of causal relevance. J. Personal. Soc. Psychol. 84:46–59
- Cohen EEA. 2007. The Mind Possessed: The Cognition of Spirit Possession in an Afro-Brazilian Religious Tradition. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Cohen E, Burdett E, Knight N, Barrett J. 2011. Cross-cultural similarities and differences in person-body reasoning: experimental evidence from the United Kingdom and Brazilian Amazon. Cogn. Sci. 35:1282– 304
- Cole M. 1998. Cultural Psychology: A Once and Future Discipline. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Univ. Press
- Coley JD. 2012. Where the wild things are: informal experience and ecological reasoning. Child Dev. 83:992– 1006
- Coley JD, Tanner KD. 2012. Common origins of diverse misconceptions: cognitive principles and the development of biology thinking. CBE Life Sci. Educ. 11:209–15
- Danziger E. 2006. The thought that counts: interactional consequences of variation in cultural theories of meaning. In *Roots of Human Sociality: Culture, Cognition and Interaction*, ed. NJ Enfield, SC Levinson, pp. 259–78. Oxford, UK: Berg
- Danziger E. 2010. On trying and lying: cultural configurations of Grice's maxim of quality. *Intercult. Pragmat.* 7:199–219
- Danziger E, Rumsey A. 2013. Introduction: from opacity to intersubjectivity across languages and cultures. Lang. Commun. 33:247–50
- Doan SN, Wang Q. 2010. Maternal discussions of mental states and behaviors: relations to emotion situation knowledge in European American and immigrant Chinese children. *Child Dev.* 81:1490–503
- Duranti A. 2008. Further reflections on reading other minds. Anthropol. Q. 81:483–94
- Enfield NJ, Levinson SC, eds. 2006. Roots of Human Sociality: Culture, Cognition and Interaction. Oxford, UK:
- Enfield NJ, Sidnell J. 2014. Language presupposes an enchronic infrastructure for social interaction. In The Social Origins of Language: Studies in the Evolution of Language, ed. D Dor, C Knight, J Lewis, pp. 92–104. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Erickson JE, Keil FC, Lockhart KL. 2010. Sensing the coherence of biology in contrast to psychology: young children's use of causal relations to distinguish two foundational domains. *Child Dev.* 81:390–409

- Evans EM. 2001. Cognitive and contextual factors in the emergence of diverse belief systems: creation versus evolution. Cogn. Psychol. 42:217–66
- Evans N, Levinson SC. 2009. The myth of language universals: language diversity and its importance for cognitive science. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 32:429–48
- Evans-Pritchard EE. 1937. Witchcraft, Oracles, and Magic Among the Azande. Oxford, UK: Clarendon
- Fausey CM, Boroditsky L. 2011. Who dunnit? Cross-linguistic differences in eye-witness memory. Psychon. Bull. Rev. 18:150–57
- Fausey CM, Long BL, Inamori A, Boroditsky L. 2010. Constructing agency: the role of language. Front. Psychol. 1:162
- Flavell JH, Miller PH, Miller SA. 2002. Cognitive Development. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall
- Gelfand MJ, Raver JL, Nishii L, Leslie LM, Lun J, et al. 2011. Differences between tight and loose cultures: a 33-nation study. *Science* 332:1100-4
- Gelman SA. 2009. Learning from others: children's construction of concepts. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 60:115–40 Gelman SA, Legare CH. 2011. Concepts and folk theories. *Annu. Rev. Anthropol.* 40:379–98
- Gelman SA, Noles NS. 2011. Domains and naïve theories. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Cogn. Sci. 2(5):10.1002/wcs.124
- Goddard C. 2010. Universals and variation in the lexicon of mental state concepts. In Words and the Mind: How Words Capture Human Experience, ed. BC Malt, PM Wolff, pp. 72–93. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Gottfried GM, Jow EE. 2003. "I just talk with my heart": the mind-body problem, linguistic input, and the acquisition of folk psychological beliefs. Cogn. Dev. 18:79-90
- Greenfield PM, Keller H, Fuligni A, Maynard A. 2003. Cultural pathways through universal development. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 54:461–90
- Han S, Mao L, Qin J, Friederici AD, Ge J. 2011. Functional roles and cultural modulations of the medial prefrontal and parietal activity associated with causal attribution. *Neuropsychologia* 49:83–91
- Han S, Northoff G, Vogeley K, Wexler BE, Kitayama S, Varnum ME. 2013. A cultural neuroscience approach to the biosocial nature of the human brain. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 64:335–59
- Harris PL, Koenig MA. 2006. Trust in testimony: how children learn about science and religion. *Child Dev.* 77:505–24
- Haun DB, Rapold CJ, Janzen G, Levinson SC. 2011. Plasticity of human spatial cognition: spatial language and cognition covary across cultures. *Cognition* 119:70–80
- Henrich J, Boyd R, Bowles S, Camerer C, Fehr E, et al. 2005. "Economic man" in cross-cultural perspective: behavioral experiments in 15 small-scale societies. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 28:795–815
- Henrich J, Heine SJ, Norenzayan A. 2010. The weirdest people in the world? Behav. Brain Sci. 33:61-83
- Herrmann P, Waxman SR, Medin DL. 2010. Anthropocentrism is not the first step in children's reasoning about the natural world. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 107:9979–84
- Hewlett BS, Fouts HN, Boyette AH, Hewlett BL. 2011. Social learning among Congo Basin hunter-gatherers. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B 366:1168–78
- Hirschfeld LA. 2006. Who needs a theory of mind? In *Biological and Cultural Bases of Human Inference*, ed. R Viale, D Andler, LA Hirschfeld, pp. 131–60. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum
- Hirschfeld LA. 2013. The myth of mentalizing and the primacy of folk sociology. See Banaji & Gelman 2013, pp. 101–6
- Hmelo-Silver CE, Azevedo R. 2006. Understanding complex systems: some core challenges. *J. Learn. Sci.* 15:53–61
- Hodge KM. 2008. Descartes' mistake: how afterlife beliefs challenge the assumption that humans are intuitive Cartesian substance dualists. 7. Cogn. Cult. 8:387–415
- House BR, Silk JB, Henrich J, Barrett HC, Scelza BA, et al. 2013. Ontogeny of prosocial behavior across diverse societies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 110:14586–91
- Imai M, Saalbach H, Stern E. 2010. Are Chinese and German children taxonomic, thematic, or shape biased? Influence of classifiers and cultural contexts. Front. Psychol. 1:194
- Istomin KV, Panáková J, Heady P. 2014. Culture, perception, and artistic visualization: a comparative study of children's drawings in three Siberian cultural groups. *Cogn. Sci.* 38:76–100
- Ji L-J. 2008. The leopard cannot change his spots, or can he? Culture and the development of lay theories of change. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 34:613–22

- Ji L-J, Nisbett RE, Su Y. 2001. Culture, change, and prediction. Psychol. Sci. 12:450-56
- Keil FC. 1995. The growth of causal understandings of natural kinds: modes of construal and the emergence of biological thought. In *Causal Cognition: A Multidisciplinary Debate*, ed. D Sperber, D Premack, AJ Premack, pp. 234–67. Oxford, UK: Clarendon
- Keil FC. 2007. Biology and beyond: domain specificity in a broader developmental context. Hum. Dev. 50:31–38
- Kitayama S, Uskul AK. 2011. Culture, mind, and the brain: current evidence and future directions. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 62:419–49
- Kittler MG, Rygl D, Mackinnon A. 2011. Beyond culture or beyond control? Reviewing the use of Hall's high-/low-context concept. *Int. J. Cross Cult. Manag.* 11:63–82
- Knight N. 2008. Yukatek Maya children's attributions of belief to natural and non-natural entities. J. Cogn. Cult. 8:235–43
- Knight N, Sousa P, Barrett JL, Atran S. 2004. Children's attributions of beliefs to humans and God: cross-cultural evidence. Cogn. Sci. 28:117–26
- Knobe J, Buckwalter W, Nichols S, Robbins P, Sarkissian H, Sommers T. 2012. Experimental philosophy. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 63:81–99
- Knobe J, Burra A. 2006. The folk concepts of intention and intentional action: a cross-cultural study. J. Cogn. Cult. 6:113–32
- Koo M, Choi I. 2005. Becoming a holistic thinker: training effect of Oriental medicine on reasoning. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 31:1264–72
- Kraus MW, Piff PK, Mendoza-Denton R, Rheinschmidt ML, Keltner D. 2012. Social class, solipsism, and contextualism: how the rich are different from the poor. *Psychol. Rev.* 119:546–72
- Laurence S, ed. 2014. AHRC Culture and the Mind Project. Univ. Sheffield, UK. http://www.philosophy.dept.shef.ac.uk/culture&mind/
- Le Guen O. 2011. Speech and gesture in spatial language and cognition among the Yucatec Mayas. Cogn. Sci. 35:905–38
- Le Guen O, Iliev R, Lois X, Atran S, Medin DL. 2013. A garden experiment revisited: inter-generational change in environmental perception and management of the Maya Lowlands, Guatemala. J. R. Anthropol. Inst. 19:771–94
- Leddon EM, Waxman SR, Medin DL. 2011. What does it mean to 'live' and 'die'? A cross-linguistic analysis of parent-child conversations in English and Indonesian. Br. J. Dev. Psychol. 29:375–95
- Lee K, Evans A. 2013. Becoming a moral relativist: children's moral conceptions of honesty and dishonesty in different sociocultural contexts. See Banaji & Gelman 2013, pp. 361–66
- Legare CH, Evans EM, Rosengren KS, Harris PL. 2012. The coexistence of natural and supernatural explanations across cultures and development. Child Dev. 83:779–93
- Legare CH, Gelman SA. 2008. Bewitchment, biology, or both: the co-existence of natural and supernatural explanatory frameworks across development. *Cogn. Sci.* 32:607–42
- Legare CH, Gelman SA. 2014. Examining explanatory biases in young children's biological reasoning. J. Cogn. Dev. 15(2):287–303
- Levin WE, Unsworth SJ. 2013. Do humans belong with nature? The influence of personal versus abstract contexts on human-nature categorization at different stages of development. *7. Environ. Psychol.* 33:9–13
- Li P, Abarbanell L, Gleitman L, Papafragou A. 2011. Spatial reasoning in Tenejapan Mayans. Cognition 120:33-53
- Lillard A. 1998. Ethnopsychologies: cultural variations in theories of mind. Psychol. Bull. 123:3–32
- Lim AK, Williams JM, Cebula KR, Annaz D. 2010. Cross-cultural variations in naïve psychology among 2-year-olds: a comparison of children in the United Kingdom and Singapore. 7. Cogn. Cult. 10:221–51
- Liszkowski U, Brown P, Callaghan T, Takada A, de Vos C. 2012. A prelinguistic gestural universal of human communication. Cogn. Sci. 36:698–713
- Liu D, Wellman HM, Tardif T, Sabbagh MA. 2008. Theory of mind development in Chinese children: a meta-analysis of false-belief understanding across cultures and languages. Dev. Psychol. 44:523–31
- Lombrozo T. 2010. Causal-explanatory pluralism: how intentions, functions, and mechanisms influence causal ascriptions. Cogn. Psychol. 61:303–32

- Lu H, Su Y, Wang Q. 2008. Talking about others facilitates theory of mind in Chinese preschoolers. Dev. Psychol. 44:1726–36
- Luhrmann T. 2011. Toward an anthropological theory of mind (overview). Suom. Antropol. J. Finn. Anthropol. Soc. 36:5–69
- Lynch E, Medin D. 2006. Explanatory models of illness: a study of within-culture variation. Cogn. Psychol. 53:285–309
- Maddux WW, Yuki M. 2006. The "ripple effect": cultural differences in perceptions of the consequences of events. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 32:669–83
- Majid A, Burenhult N. 2014. Odors are expressible in language, as long as you speak the right language. Cognition 130:266–70
- Majid A, Levinson SC. 2011. The senses in language and culture. Senses Soc. 6:5–18
- Malt BC, Gennari S, Imai M, Ameel E, Saji N, Majid A. 2014. Where are the concepts? What words can and can't reveal. In *The Conceptual Mind: New Directions in the Study of Concepts*, ed. S Laurence, E Margolis. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. In press
- Malt BC, Gennari S, Imai M, Ameel E, Tsuda N, Majid A. 2008. Talking about walking biomechanics and the language of locomotion. *Psychol. Sci.* 19:232–40
- Malt BC, Majid A. 2013. How thought is mapped into words. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Cogn. Sci. 4:583-97
- Malt BC, Wolff PM. 2010. Words and the Mind: How Words Capture Human Experience. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Markus HR, Kitayama S. 1991. Culture and the self: implications for cognition, emotion, and motivation. Psychol. Rev. 98:224–53
- Maupin JN, Ross N. 2012. Expectations of similarity and cultural difference in conceptual models of illness: a comparison of medical staff and Mexican migrants. *Hum. Organ.* 71:306–16
- Maupin JN, Ross N, Timura CA. 2011. Gendered experiences of migration and conceptual knowledge of illness. J. Immigr. Minor. Health 13:600–8
- Mayer A, Träuble BE. 2013. Synchrony in the onset of mental state understanding across cultures? A study among children in Samoa. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 37:21–28
- Medin DL, Atran S. 2004. The native mind: biological categorization and reasoning in development and across cultures. Psychol. Rev. 111:960–83
- Medin DL, Bang M. 2014. Who's Asking? Native Science, Western Science and Science Education. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Medin DL, Bennis W, Chandler M. 2010. Culture and the home-field disadvantage. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 5:708–13
- Medin DL, Lynch EB, Solomon KO. 2000. Are there kinds of concepts? Annu. Rev. Psychol. 51:121-47
- Medin DL, Ojalehto B, Marin A, Bang M. 2013. Culture and epistemologies: putting culture back into the ecosystem. In *Advances in Culture and Psychology*, ed. M Gelfand, C Chiu, Y-Y Hong, pp. 177–217. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Medin DL, Ross NO, Atran S, Cox D, Coley J, et al. 2006. Folkbiology of freshwater fish. *Cognition* 99:237–73 Medin DL, Smith EE. 1984. Concepts and concept formation. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 35:113–38
- Mendenhall E, Seligman RA, Fernandez A, Jacobs EA. 2010. Speaking through diabetes: rethinking the significance of lay discourses on diabetes. Med. Anthropol. Q. 24:220–39
- Michotte A. 1963. The Perception of Causality. New York: Basic Books
- Morris MW, Nisbett RE, Peng K. 1995. Causal attribution across domains and cultures. In *Causal Cognition:*A Multidisciplinary Debate, ed. D Sperber, D Premack, AJ Premack, pp. 577–614. Oxford, UK: Clarendon
- Morris MW, Peng K. 1994. Culture and cause: American and Chinese attributions for social and physical events. *J. Personal. Soc. Psychol.* 67:949–71
- Na J, Grossmann I, Varnum ME, Kitayama S, Gonzalez R, Nisbett RE. 2010. Cultural differences are not always reducible to individual differences. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 107:6192–97
- Naito M, Koyama K. 2006. The development of false-belief understanding in Japanese children: delay and difference? *Int. 7. Behav. Dev.* 30:290–304
- Nguyen SP, Rosengren KS. 2004. Causal reasoning about illness: a comparison between European and Vietnamese-American children. *J. Cogn. Cult.* 4:51–78

- Nisbett RE, Masuda T. 2003. Culture and point of view. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100:11163-70
- Nisbett RE, Peng K, Choi I, Norenzayan A. 2001. Culture and systems of thought: holistic versus analytic cognition. Psychol. Rev. 108:291–310
- Norenzayan A, Heine SJ. 2005. Psychological universals: What are they and how can we know? *Psychol. Bull.* 131:763–84
- Núñez RE, Cornejo C. 2012. Facing the sunrise: cultural worldview underlying intrinsic-based encoding of absolute frames of reference in Aymara. Cogn. Sci. 36:965–91
- Núñez RE, Sweetser E. 2006. With the future behind them: convergent evidence from Aymara language and gesture in the crosslinguistic comparison of spatial construals of time. *Cogn. Sci.* 30:401–50
- Oberle E. 2009. The development of theory of mind reasoning in Micronesian children. *J. Cogn. Cult.* 9:39–56
- Ojalehto B, Waxman SR, Medin DL. 2013. Teleological reasoning about nature: intentional design or relational perspectives? *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 17:166–71
- Olson ID. 2013. Cultural differences between Favela and Asfalto in complex systems thinking. *J. Cogn. Cult.* 13:145–57
- Onishi KH, Baillargeon R. 2005. Do 15-month-old infants understand false beliefs? Science 308:255-58
- Opfer JE, Gelman SA. 2001. Children's and adults' models for predicting teleological action: the development of a biology-based model. *Child Dev.* 72:1367–81
- Opfer JE, Gelman SA. 2010. Development of the animate-inanimate distinction. In Wiley-Blackwell Handbook of Childhood Cognitive Development, ed. U Goswami, pp. 213–38. New York: Blackwell
- Park DC, Gutchess A. 2006. The cognitive neuroscience of aging and culture. Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci. 15:105–8
 Park DC, Huang C-M. 2010. Culture wires the brain: a cognitive neuroscience perspective. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 5:391–400
- Peng K, Knowles ED. 2003. Culture, education, and the attribution of physical causality. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 29:1272–84
- Rand D, Peysakhovich A, Kraft-Todd GT, Newman GE, Wurzbacher O, et al. 2014. Social heuristics shape intuitive cooperation. Nat. Commun. 5:3677
- Reuter-Lorenz PA, Park DC. 2010. Human neuroscience and the aging mind: a new look at old problems. J. Gerontol. Ser. B Psychol. Sci. Soc. Sci. 65:405–15
- Rhodes M, Gelman SA. 2009. A developmental examination of the conceptual structure of animal, artifact, and human social categories across two cultural contexts. Cogn. Psychol. 59:244–74
- Robbins J, Rumsey A. 2008. Introduction: Cultural and linguistic anthropology and the opacity of other minds. Anthropol. Q. 81:407–20
- Romney AK, Weller SC, Batchelder WH. 1986. Culture as consensus: a theory of culture and informant accuracy. *Am. Anthropol.* 88:313–38
- Rosch EH. 1973. Natural categories. Cogn. Psychol. 4:328-50
- Rosengren KS, Gutiérrez IT. 2011. Searching for coherence in a complex world: introduction to the special issue on explanatory coexistence. *Hum. Dev.* 54:123–25
- Rosengren KS, Johnson CN, Harris PL, eds. 2000. *Imagining the Impossible: Magical, Scientific and Religious Thinking in Children*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Sachdeva S, Singh P, Medin D. 2011. Culture and the quest for universal principles in moral reasoning. Int. J. Psychol. 46:161–76
- Sarkissian H, Chatterjee A, De Brigard F, Knobe J, Nichols S, Sirker S. 2010. Is belief in free will a cultural universal? Mind Lang. 25:346–58
- Sauter DA, Le Guen O, Haun D. 2011. Categorical perception of emotional facial expressions does not require lexical categories. *Emotion* 11:1479–83
- Scheper-Hughes N, Lock MM. 1987. The mindful body: a prolegomenon to future work in medical anthropology. Med. Anthropol. Q. 1:6–41
- Schulz LE, Bonawitz EB, Griffiths TL. 2007. Can being scared cause tummy aches? Naive theories, ambiguous evidence, and preschoolers' causal inferences. *Dev. Psychol.* 43:1124–39
- Seligman R, Brown RA. 2010. Theory and method at the intersection of anthropology and cultural neuroscience. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 5:130–37
- Senju A, Southgate V, Snape C, Leonard M, Csibra G. 2011. Do 18-month-olds really attribute mental states to others? A critical test. *Psychol. Sci.* 22:878–80

- Shahaeian A, Peterson CC, Slaughter V, Wellman HM. 2011. Culture and the sequence of steps in theory of mind development. Dev. Psychol. 47:1239–47
- Shenton J, Ross N, Kohut M, Waxman SR. 2011. Maya folk botany and knowledge devolution: modernization and intra-community variability in the acquisition of folkbotanical knowledge. *Ethos* 39:349–67
- Slingerland E, Chudek M. 2011. The prevalence of mind-body dualism in early China. Cogn. Sci. 35:997–1007 Solomon KO, Medin DL, Lynch E. 1999. Concepts do more than categorize. Trends Cogn. Sci. 3:99–105
- Spelke ES, Bernier EP, Skerry AE. 2013. Core social cognition. See Banaji & Gelman 2013, pp. 11-16
- Spencer-Rodgers J, Williams MJ, Peng K. 2010. Cultural differences in expectations of change and tolerance for contradiction: a decade of empirical research. Personal. Soc. Psychol. Rev. 14:296–312
- Sperber D, Hirschfeld LA. 2004. The cognitive foundations of cultural stability and diversity. Trends Cogn. Sci. 8:40–46
- Stenning K, Widlok T. 2013. Variations in reasoning about culture and causality. Presented at Exploring the Cultural Constitution of (Causal) Cognition Conf., April 11–12, Center for Interdisciplinary Research, Universität Bielefeld. http://www.uni-bielefeld.de/ZIF/Publikationen/Mitteilungen/Ausgaben/2013-3.pdf
- Stephens NM, Markus HR, Phillips LT. 2014. Social class culture cycles: how three gateway contexts shape selves and fuel inequality. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 65:611–34
- Subbotsky E. 2010. Magic and the Mind: Mechanisms, Functions, and Development of Magical Thinking and Behavior. New York: Oxford Univ. Press
- Subbotsky E, Quinteros G. 2002. Do cultural factors affect causal beliefs? Rational and magical thinking in Britain and Mexico. *Br. J. Psychol.* 93:519–43
- Tarlowski A. 2006. If it's an animal it has axons: experience and culture in preschool children's reasoning about animates. *Cogn. Dev.* 21:249–65
- Tarlowski A. 2011. Naming patterns and inductive inference: the case of birds. J. Cogn. Cult. 11:189-216
- Taverna AS, Waxman SR, Medin DL, Moscoloni N, Peralta OA. 2014. Naming the living things: linguistic, experiential and cultural factors in Wichí and Spanish speaking children. J. Cult. Cogn. 12:339–58
- Taverna AS, Waxman SR, Medin DL, Peralta OA. 2012. Core folkbiological concepts: new evidence from Wichí children and adults. J. Cogn. Cult. 12:339–58
- Toyama N. 2010. Japanese children's and adults' awareness of psychogenic bodily reactions. *Int. J. Behav. Dev.* 34:1–9
- Unsworth SJ, Levin W, Bang M, Washinawatok K, Waxman SR, Medin DL. 2012. Cultural differences in children's ecological reasoning and psychological closeness to nature: evidence from Menominee and European American children. J. Cogn. Cult. 12:17–29
- Uskul AK, Kitayama S, Nisbett RE. 2008. Ecocultural basis of cognition: Farmers and fishermen are more holistic than herders. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 105:8552–56
- Vinden PG. 1996. Junín Quechua children's understanding of mind. Child Dev. 67:1707–16
- Vinden PG. 1999. Children's understanding of mind and emotion: a multi-culture study. *Cogn. Emot.* 13:19–48 Vinden PG. 2002. Understanding minds and evidence for belief: a study of Mofu children in Cameroon. *Int.*
- J. Behav. Dev. 26:445–52
- Wassmann J, Träuble B, Funke J. 2013. Theory of Mind in the Pacific. Reasoning Across Cultures. Heidelberg, Ger.: Universitätsverlag
- Waxman SR, Gelman SA. 2009. Early word-learning entails reference, not merely associations. Trends Cogn. Sci. 13:258–63
- Waxman SR, Herrmann P, Woodring J, Medin DL. 2014. Humans (really) are animals: Picture-book reading influences five-year-old urban children's construal of the relation between humans and non-human animals. *Front. Psychol.* 5:172
- Waxman SR, Medin DL. 2007. Experience and cultural models matter: placing firm limits on childhood anthropocentrism. Hum. Dev. 50:23–30
- Waytz A, Gray K, Epley N, Wegner DM. 2010. Causes and consequences of mind perception. Trends Cogn. Sci. 14:383–88
- Weinberg J, Nichols S, Stich S. 2001. Normativity and epistemic intuitions. *Philos. Top.* 29:429–60
- Weller SC, Baer RD, Garcia de Alba Garcia J, Salcedo Rocha AL. 2012. Explanatory models of diabetes in the U.S. and Mexico: the patient-provider gap and cultural competence. *Soc. Sci. Med.* 75:1088–96

- Wellman HM. 2010. Developing a theory of mind. In *The Wiley-Blackwell Handbook of Childhood Cognitive Development*, ed. U Goswami, pp. 258–84. New York: Blackwell
- Wellman HM, Cross D, Watson J. 2001. Meta-analysis of theory-of-mind development: the truth about false belief. Child Dev. 72:655–84
- Wellman HM, Fang F, Liu D, Zhu L, Liu G. 2006. Scaling of theory-of-mind understandings in Chinese children. *Psychol. Sci.* 17:1075–81
- Wellman HM, Fang F, Peterson CC. 2011. Sequential progressions in a theory-of-mind scale: longitudinal perspectives. *Child Dev.* 82:780–92
- Wellman HM, Gelman SA. 1992. Cognitive development: foundational theories of core domains. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 43:337–75
- Wellman HM, Johnson CN. 2008. Developing dualism: from intuitive understanding to transcendental ideas. In Psycho-Physical Dualism Today: An Interdisciplinary Approach, ed. A Antonietti, A Corradina, EJ Lowe, pp. 3–36. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books
- Wellman HM, Liu D. 2004. Scaling of theory-of-mind tasks. Child Dev. 75:523-41
- White PA. 2006. The causal asymmetry. Psychol. Rev. 113:132-47
- White PA. 2008. Beliefs about interactions between factors in the natural environment: a causal network study. Appl. Cogn. Psychol. 22:559–72
- Whitehouse H. 2011. The coexistence problem in psychology, anthropology, and evolutionary theory. *Hum. Dev.* 54:191–99
- Whorf BL. 1956 (2012). Language, Thought, and Reality: Selected Writings of Benjamin Lee Whorf. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press
- Wilensky U, Resnick M. 1999. Thinking in levels: a dynamic systems approach to making sense of the world. J. Sci. Educ. Technol. 8:3–19
- Winer GA, Cottrell JE, Bica LA. 2009. When hearts, hands, and feet trump brains: centralist versus peripheralist responses in children and adults. Br. J. Dev. Psychol. 27:343–64
- Woolley JD. 2000. The development of beliefs about direct mental-physical causality in imagination, magic, and religion. In *Imagining the Impossible: Magical Scientific and Religious Thinking in Children*, ed. KS Rosengren, CN Johnson, PL Harris, pp. 99–129. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Zhu L, Liu G, Tardif T. 2009. Chinese children's explanations for illness. Int. J. Behav. Dev. 33:516-19



Annual Review of Psychology

Volume 66, 2015

Contents

Consolidating Memories **James L. McGaugh************************************	1
The Nucleus Accumbens: An Interface Between Cognition, Emotion, and Action Stan B. Floresco	.25
Adult Neurogenesis: Beyond Learning and Memory Heather A. Cameron and Lucas R. Glover	.53
Motivation and Cognitive Control: From Behavior to Neural Mechanism Matthew Botvinick and Todd Braver	.83
The Cognitive Neuroscience of Working Memory Mark D'Esposito and Bradley R. Postle	.15
Why Sleep Is Important for Health: A Psychoneuroimmunology Perspective Michael R. Irwin	.43
Critical Periods in Speech Perception: New Directions **Janet F. Werker and Takao K. Hensch** 1	.73
Perceptual Learning: Toward a Comprehensive Theory Takeo Watanabe and Yuka Sasaki	.97
Causality in Thought Steven A. Sloman and David Lagnado	23
Perspectives on Culture and Concepts bethany l. ojalehto and Douglas L. Medin	:49
Information Processing as a Paradigm for Decision Making Daniel M. Oppenheimer and Evan Kelso	277
Beyond Simple Models of Self-Control to Circuit-Based Accounts of Adolescent Behavior B.7. Casey	295
The Evolutionary Roots of Human Decision Making *Laurie R. Santos and Alexandra G. Rosati*	21
Hemodynamic Correlates of Cognition in Human Infants *Richard N. Aslin, Mohinish Shukla, and Lauren L. Emberson	49

The Hidden Efficacy of Interventions: Gene × Environment Experiments from a Differential Susceptibility Perspective Marian J. Bakermans-Kranenburg and Marinus H. van IJzendoorn	381
Developmental Flexibility in the Age of Globalization: Autonomy and Identity Development Among Immigrant Adolescents Andrew J. Fuligni and Kim M. Tsai	411
Global Health and Development in Early Childhood Frances E. Aboud and Aisha K. Yousafzai	433
Childhood Antecedents and Risk for Adult Mental Disorders Daniel S. Pine and Nathan A. Fox	459
The Science of Mind Wandering: Empirically Navigating the Stream of Consciousness	405
Jonathan Smallwood and Jonathan W. Schooler	487
Social Attributions from Faces: Determinants, Consequences, Accuracy, and Functional Significance Alexander Todorov, Christopher Y. Olivola, Ron Dotsch, and Peter Mende-Siedlecki	519
Multiple Identities in Social Perception and Interaction: Challenges and Opportunities Sonia K. Kang and Galen V. Bodenhausen	547
The Evolution of Altruism in Humans Robert Kurzban, Maxwell N. Burton-Chellew, and Stuart A. West	575
Social Pain and the Brain: Controversies, Questions, and Where to Go from Here Naomi I. Eisenberger	601
Polycultural Psychology Michael W. Morris, Chi-yue Chiu, and Zhi Liu	
Action Errors, Error Management, and Learning in Organizations Michael Frese and Nina Keith	661
Nonverbal Generics: Human Infants Interpret Objects as Symbols of Object Kinds Gergely Csibra and Rubeena Shamsudheen	689
School Readiness and Self-Regulation: A Developmental Psychobiological Approach Clancy Blair and C. Cybele Raver	711
The Neuroendocrinology of Social Isolation John T. Cacioppo, Stephanie Cacioppo, John P. Capitanio, and Steven W. Cole	

Physical Activity and Cognitive Vitality Ruchika Shaurya Prakash, Michelle W. Voss, Kirk I. Erickson, and Arthur F. Kramer
Emotion and Decision Making Jennifer S. Lerner, Ye Li, Piercarlo Valdesolo, and Karim S. Kassam
Advances in Mediation Analysis: A Survey and Synthesis of New Developments Kristopher J. Preacher 825
Diffusion Tensor Imaging for Understanding Brain Development in Early Life Anqi Qiu, Susumu Mori, and Michael I. Miller
Internet Research in Psychology Samuel D. Gosling and Winter Mason
Indexes
Cumulative Index of Contributing Authors, Volumes 56–66

An online log of corrections to *Annual Review of Psychology* articles may be found at http://www.annualreviews.org/errata/psych

Errata

It's about time. Your time. It's time well spent.

New From Annual Reviews:

Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior

Volume 1 • March 2014 • Online & In Print • http://orgpsych.annualreviews.org

Editor: Frederick P. Morgeson, The Eli Broad College of Business, Michigan State University

The Annual Review of Organizational Psychology and Organizational Behavior is devoted to publishing reviews of the industrial and organizational psychology, human resource management, and organizational behavior literature. Topics for review include motivation, selection, teams, training and development, leadership, job performance, strategic HR, cross-cultural issues, work attitudes, entrepreneurship, affect and emotion, organizational change and development, gender and diversity, statistics and research methodologies, and other emerging topics.

Complimentary online access to the first volume will be available until March 2015.

TABLE OF CONTENTS:

- An Ounce of Prevention Is Worth a Pound of Cure: Improving Research Quality Before Data Collection, Herman Aguinis, Robert J. Vandenberg
- Burnout and Work Engagement: The JD-R Approach, Arnold B. Bakker, Evangelia Demerouti, Ana Isabel Sanz-Vergel
- Compassion at Work, Jane E. Dutton, Kristina M. Workman, Ashley E. Hardin
- Constructively Managing Conflict in Organizations,
 Dean Tjosvold, Alfred S.H. Wong, Nancy Yi Feng Chen
- Coworkers Behaving Badly: The Impact of Coworker Deviant Behavior upon Individual Employees, Sandra L. Robinson, Wei Wang, Christian Kiewitz
- Delineating and Reviewing the Role of Newcomer Capital in Organizational Socialization, Talya N. Bauer, Berrin Erdogan
- Emotional Intelligence in Organizations, Stéphane Côté
- Employee Voice and Silence, Elizabeth W. Morrison
- Intercultural Competence, Kwok Leung, Soon Ang, Mei Ling Tan
- Learning in the Twenty-First-Century Workplace,
 Raymond A. Noe, Alena D.M. Clarke, Howard J. Klein
- Pay Dispersion, Jason D. Shaw
- Personality and Cognitive Ability as Predictors of Effective Performance at Work, Neal Schmitt

- Perspectives on Power in Organizations, Cameron Anderson, Sebastien Brion
- Psychological Safety: The History, Renaissance, and Future of an Interpersonal Construct, Amy C. Edmondson, Zhike Lei
- Research on Workplace Creativity: A Review and Redirection, Jing Zhou, Inga J. Hoever
- Talent Management: Conceptual Approaches and Practical Challenges, Peter Cappelli, JR Keller
- The Contemporary Career: A Work-Home Perspective, Jeffrey H. Greenhaus, Ellen Ernst Kossek
- The Fascinating Psychological Microfoundations of Strategy and Competitive Advantage, Robert E. Ployhart, Donald Hale, Jr.
- The Psychology of Entrepreneurship, Michael Frese, Michael M. Gielnik
- The Story of Why We Stay: A Review of Job Embeddedness, Thomas William Lee, Tyler C. Burch, Terence R. Mitchell
- What Was, What Is, and What May Be in OP/OB, Lyman W. Porter, Benjamin Schneider
- Where Global and Virtual Meet: The Value of Examining the Intersection of These Elements in Twenty-First-Century Teams, Cristina B. Gibson, Laura Huang, Bradley L. Kirkman, Debra L. Shapiro
- Work-Family Boundary Dynamics, Tammy D. Allen, Eunae Cho, Laurenz L. Meier

Access this and all other Annual Reviews journals via your institution at www.annualreviews.org.



